
Date Published:13 September 2022     

Gloucestershire Police and Crime Panel

Monday 26 September 2022 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE Sophie 
Benfield

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Please see note (a) at the end of the agenda.

Sophie 
Benfield

CONFIRMATORY HEARING

3  CHIEF EXECUTIVE HEARING (Pages 1 - 22)

This is a confirmatory hearing for the appointment of the Chief Executive.

The preferred candidate is given an opportunity to address the Panel and 
then answer questions from the members.

The attached papers include guidance on how the Panel will conduct the 
hearing alongside papers relating to the appointment.

4  EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

The Committee may wish to exclude the press and public from the 
meeting during the consideration of the remaining items on the agenda in 
accordance with the provisions of section 100A of the Local Government 
Act 1972 (schedule 12A paragraphs 1, 2 & 3) which are:

Information relating to any individual

Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual

Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 
person (including the authority holding that information).

5  PANEL DISCUSSION 



    

The Panel will make a decision regarding whether to recommend OR 
recommend against the appointment.

Following the meeting, a report will be made to the Police and Crime 
Commissioner and made public after 5 working days.

Membership –  Cllr Joe Harris, Cllr Sajid Patel (Vice-Chair), Cllr Steve Robinson (Chair) and 
Cllr Brian Tipper Cllr Ray Brassington, Cllr Philip Burford, Cllr Flo Clucas, Cllr David Gray, Cllr 
Dawn Melvin and Cllr Martin Pearcy, Martin Smith

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer, 
(Rob Ayliffe Tel:01452 328506/ e-mail: rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the 
start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or 
reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact: Sophie Benfield, Democratic Services Adviser 
:01452 324094/ e-mail: sophie.benfield@gloucestershire.gov.uk

(c)

(d) 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1 Members are required to sign the attendance list.
2 Please note that substitution arrangements are in place for Scrutiny (see page 81 of 

the Constitution).

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 
contact Democratic Services (Tel 01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements 
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be 
photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the 
meeting.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:sophie.benfield@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Gloucestershire Police and Crime Panel

Guide to Confirmatory Hearing

1. The panel is required by the Act to review the Police and Crime 
Commissioner’s proposed appointments of Chief Constable, Chief Executive, 
Chief Finance Officer and Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner. The panel 
is required to hold confirmation hearings in public for these posts. 

2. The Panel is required to report on senior appointments within a period of three 
weeks, beginning with the day on which the Panel receives the notification 
from the Police and Crime Commissioner of the proposed senior appointment.

3. The candidate is requested to appear for the purpose of answering questions 
relating to the appointment. The hearing will be a relatively focused 
opportunity to explore key issues relating to professional competence and 
personal independence.

4. The Panel must be provided with:

 The names of the person whom the PCC is proposing to appoint
 The criteria used to assess the suitability of the candidate for the 

appointment
 Why the candidate satisfies the criteria
 The terms and conditions on which the candidate is to be appointed.

Prior to the Hearing

5. Following notification by the Police and Crime Commissioner to the panel, the 
Chair should write to the candidate, advising them of the date of the meeting 
and notify them of the principles of professional competence and personal 
independence on which they propose to evaluate the candidate.

6. The Panel should convene a pre-meeting following receipt of the papers from 
the PCC’s Office and before the Confirmatory hearing itself.  At this meeting 
questions and themes for discussion should be agreed.

7. Questions should be determined by the documents provided in support of the 
appointment and consideration of the following:

 Professional Competence- relates to the candidate’s ability to carry out 
the role through a comparison of the candidate’s CV and job profile. In 
addition questions regarding professional judgement and insight.

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 Personal Independence – relates to the need for a candidate to act in a 
manner that is operationally independent of the Commissioner.

 Obtain evidence of the candidate’s understanding of the various 
stakeholders that would need to be involved and engaged with

 An understanding of the separation of the Commissioner from 
operational independence

The Hearing in public

8. The first part of the meeting with comprise of the confirmatory hearing itself 
conducted in public and structured as follows:

a) Welcome the candidate to the meeting

b) Candidate  has an opportunity to present to the Panel his/her 
understanding of the role

c) Opportunity for the Panel to ask questions of the candidate. 

d) Candidate is given opportunity to clarify any answers given during the 
hearing and ask questions of the panel about the next stage of the 
process.

Decision Making

9. Immediately following the confirmation hearing, the panel should go into 
closed session to decide on its recommendations. 

10. The Panel should discuss the following:

 Whether the candidate has the professional competence to exercise the 
role as set out in the role profile.

 Whether the Panel feels that the candidate has the personal 
independence to exercise the role, as set out in the role profile.

11. Where a candidate does not meet the minimum standards in these areas 
based on the role profile, this would suggest a significant failure in the 
appointments process undertaken by the Police and Crime Commissioner.

Page 2



12. If the Panel believes that there has been a significant failure in the 
appointments process, for a Chief Constable position it may be appropriate to 
use the veto. For candidates for all other appointments, (the veto is not an 
option) the Panel should provide advice to the Police and Crime 
Commissioner in the form of a letter making recommendations.

13. Where a candidate meets the standards but there is still cause for concern 
about his or her suitability, it may be appropriate to outline those concerns in 
the Panel’s response to the Police and Crime Commissioner.

Communicating the Decision

14. Any recommendation to appoint should be communicated to the Police and 
Crime Commissioner in writing immediately following the making of the 
decision (i.e. next working day). The candidate should be copied into this 
communication.

15. Refusal should only be recommended rarely under the circumstances 
identified previously. The Police and Crime Commissioner should be notified 
on the next working day of the refusal in writing. Appended to this should be 
a separate document including the principal reasons for that refusal.

16. It is suggested that a period of five working days should elapse between the 
hearing and the release of information about any recommendation the panel 
to the public (whether positive or otherwise). 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

 

 

1 

 

 

OPCC Chief Executive & Monitoring Officer 
 

Confirmation of Appointment  

 

September 2022 
  

Page 5



Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

 

www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk 

 

Background 

In July 2022, the Chief Executive of the OPCC, Richard Bradley, informed me of his decision to 
retire on 24 December 2022. Richard has been Chief Executive since August 2020 and prior to 
that was interim Chief Executive for an 18 month period. He has provided over 50 years of 
exemplary public service in a variety of roles, including for the Gloucestershire Constabulary, 
Cheltenham Borough Council and, since 2012, for the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner  

 

Criteria used to assess the candidate 

An advert was published nationally in July 2022 seeking applicants for the permanent post. The 
recruitment process resulted in applications from eleven individuals who were then shortlisted to 
five and subsequently invited to participate in a rigorous interview process. The interviews were 
held on Wednesday 24 August 2022 with an interview panel comprising myself, the current Chief 
Executive and Mr Naji Darwish, Chief Executive of Wiltshire OPCC acting as the independent 
panel member. 

Following the interview the preferred candidate was offered and accepted the job subject to 
confirmation by the Police and Crime Panel today. 

 

Preferred candidate 

Ruth Greenwood  

 

Why the candidate satisfies the criteria 

The role of Chief Executive of the OPCC is a vast and varied role from being monitoring officer, to 
running the OPCC, partnership working and overseeing the commissioning of services.  

The role of Chief Executive of the OPCC is challenging and requires a broad range of skills sets 
to meet the fast paced demand.   

Ruth was by far the best candidate and met all of the criteria required. Ruth brings a wide range 
of skills and experiences gained in the past 20 years including working within Tameside 
Metropolitan Borough Council, Manchester, where she worked with the then regional Government 
Office, alongside the Local Authority Chief Executive and other local public body leaders (including 
fire and rescue, police and health).  

Since 2015 Ruth has been a member of the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner where 
she has performed in a variety of roles including Head of Policy and Performance and, since 2019, 
as Deputy Chief Executive. Her most recent successes include bidding for Home Office Safer 
Streets funding that has secured awards of £1m and £2m respectively that will be used to make 
Gloucestershire a safer place. 

Ruth is a very experienced individual and is highly competent at working at a strategic senior 
management level both within her own organisation and among others and I commend her to you.  

  

 

Chris Nelson  

Police and Crime Commissioner 

 
  

Page 6



Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

 

www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk 

 

Advert   

Post: Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer 
Salary: £100,000 
Hours: 37 hours per week 
Contract Type: Permanent 
Location: Police HQ, No.1 Waterwells, Quedgeley, Gloucester,GL2 2AN 
Closing Date: Thursday 4 August at 12 noon 
 

The Police & Crime Commissioner for Gloucestershire, Chris Nelson, is seeking to 
recruit a Chief Executive & Monitoring Officer. 
 
Working to the PCC you will lead the Office of the Police & Commissioner (OPCC) and 
have direct responsibility for ensuring the PCC has full executive and professional 
support in carrying out his duties and responsibilities comprehensively and lawfully. 
 
You will support and advise the PCC in ensuring effective development and delivery of 
the Police & Crime Prevention Plan 2021/2025. 
 
The successful candidate will be a proven leader skilled at building productive working 
relationships, with excellent acumen and political awareness. You will have the ability to 
deal with diverse and sensitive issues whilst working in a fast paced environment. 

Applications will be made through submission of a covering letter explaining why you 
have the skills, experience and attributes to perform at this level and a C.V.  

Applications will be shortlisted during the week commencing 8 August 2022.  

Interviews are provisionally reserved for 24 August and 30 August 2022. 
 
If you have any questions relating to this role please contact: Richard Bradley, Chief 
Executive, OPCC, via email: richard.bradley@gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk  

All candidates should note that this is a politically restricted post subject to police 

vetting. As a statutory senior appointment to the office, the successful candidate will 

be required to attend a public confirmation hearing to enable the Police and Crime 

Panel to review the proposed appointment. 

The PCC is committed to improving the diversity of his workforce to better reflect the 
communities of Gloucestershire. The Commissioner welcomes applications from all 
minority groups and individuals who identify with one or more of the protected 
characteristics as defined by the Equality Act 2010. All appointments will be made on 
merit.  

Job Description 
 
Introduction 
 
This job description is the statutory role of the Chief Executive to the Police and 

Page 7



Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

 

www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk 

 

Crime Commissioner (PCC) for Gloucestershire which reports directly to the 
Commissioner. 
 
This role requires the capability to deliver on both the legislative and transformational 
requirements of the PCC and responsibilities to the Commissioner. The post holder must 
be adept at leading in an organisational context that is relatively new, with changing 
priorities, is forward looking, modern, operationally effective, sustainable and agile in order 
to keep the residents of Gloucestershire safe. 
 
Overall Purpose 
 
To provide leadership, strategic direction, and legal advice for the PCC in its existing and 
new statutory duties and support in ensuring strategic plans and programmes are 
successfully developed and delivered. In doing so the Chief Executive is responsible for 
ensuring the effective implementation of policy and is therefore required to provide 
strategic leadership in developing and planning support to the PCC in a national, regional 
and local context.  
 
Role Specific Responsibilities 
 
1. To discharge the proper duties of the Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service) as set out 
in Section 4 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, amended by the Police 
Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011. This will include advising the PCC on the 
exercise of statutory powers, duties, procedures, personal responsibilities and liabilities 
and identifying issues requiring the PCC’s decision, discussion or action. 
 
2. To act as Monitoring Officer for the PCC under section 5 of the of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989, amended by the Police Reform and Social 
Responsibility Act 2011 to, i) detect and report, in consultation with the s151 Officer on 
any illegality or maladministration in the business of the office and ii) deal with matters 
connected with the conduct of employees under the Local Government Act 2000. 
 
3. To discharge the duties of Data Protection Officer to ensure data security and 
effective monitoring processes are in place to support the PCC in their role as data 
controller. 
 
4. To support the PCC in developing solutions for and discharging statutory obligations 
as set down in the Policing and Crime Act 2017. 
 
5. To ensure an effective Corporate Governance Framework exists. 
 
6. To lead and manage the staff in the statutory office of the PCC to ensure the 
provision of professional, effective, and efficient high quality support to: the PCC in the 
scrutiny of force activity; the Chief Constable in leading and managing the Gloucestershire 
Constabulary; and the Local Criminal Justice Board in improving the end-to-end criminal 
justice system. 
 
7. To create an adaptable and motivating place to work underpinned by a learning culture 
which delivers outcomes that contribute to keeping our communities safer. 
 

Page 8



Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

 

www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk 

 

8. To advise and attend national, regional and local meetings to ensure effective solutions 
are delivered through collaborative working. To respond to national 
developments in blue light collaboration and to support the PCC in representing his 
interests locally, regionally and nationally. 
 
9. To communicate formally on behalf of the PCC and to liaise with the Chief 
Constable, Home Office, Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and 
Rescue Services, NPCC, other relevant Government Departments and outside bodies. 
 
10. To lead on the processes and provide advice, support and guidance in 
respect of the following personnel issues: 
 
a) The appointment of Chief Constable including terms and conditions of service and 
matters relating to discipline. This includes advising and assisting the PCC on the exercise 
of statutory duties relating to complaints against the Chief Constable; 
b) Appeals from support staff, and police officers, where allowed for in their conditions of 
employment or by Police Regulations. 
 
11. To institute, defend or participate in legal proceedings where legal action is 
necessary to give effect to decisions of the PCC or defend their interests. To execute or 
authorise the execution of all legal documents on behalf of the PCC. To advise and 
represent the PCC in all legal matters. To seek external legal advice and to instruct 
Counsel in circumstances when this is considered to be in the interests of the PCC. 
 
Strategy and resource planning 
 
12. To provide strategic leadership and advice to the PCC in support of the development 
of a clear and effective long-term vision and strategy, set out in the Police and Crime 
Prevention Plan, together with its associated delivery plan. 
 
13. In driving value for public money and in conjunction with the PCC Chief Finance 
Officer, to oversee the financial planning, budgetary, resourcing and asset management 
aspects of the organisation. 
 
14. To ensure that effective governance arrangements are in place to enable the 
organisation to monitor, review and improve its own performance. 
 
15. Promote a culture of integrity, service excellence and continuous improvement 
throughout the organisation. 
 
16. Leading the substantial change management processes associated with new potential 
responsibilities of the PCC whilst maintaining and improving services to the public, 
recognising wider resource constraints. 
 
 
Partnership working, commissioning and service delivery 
 
17. To be the strategic lead, develop and innovate effective relationships with a wide range 
of stakeholders. To work with Local Strategic Partnerships, Community Safety 
Partnerships, local authorities, the voluntary sector and criminal justice agencies to ensure 

Page 9



Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

 

www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk 

 

the delivery of community safety programmes that meet communities and service user 
needs. 
 
18. To ensure the effective and efficient engagement with both internal and external 
partners and stakeholders in relation to commissioning at local, regional and national 
level. 
 
19. To identify and develop collaborative arrangements with public, private or voluntary 
sector partners to ensure more effective and efficient use of resources. 
 
20. To ensure that the PCC contributes to the national consideration of issues 
concerning policing and blue light collaborations. To represent and/or support the PCC 
at high level meetings, including with the Home Office, Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of 
Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services, Association of Police and Crime 
Commissioners, Local Government Association and other outside bodies at regional and 
national level. 
 
 
Engagement and information 
 
21. To ensure that effective strategic assessments are undertaken which demonstrate a 
real understanding of the needs of the communities served, 
enabling effective budget alignment and prioritisation. 
 
22. To ensure that the organisation meets statutory and other obligations relating to 
Freedom of Information, publications, planning, community consultation and to prepare 
related briefs and submissions for the PCC. 
 
23. To deliver, review and improve the effectiveness and relevance of communication, 
consultation and engagement strategies and supporting activities of the PCC. 
 
24. To support the PCC by raising the profile and communicating ambition, values, 
strategies, achievements and views of the PCC. 
 
25. To develop and implement effective two-way community engagement and effective 
consultation with all sections of the community and use this feedback to help shape 
policing and crime reduction. 
 
26. To represent and promote the interests of the PCC by developing and maintaining 
effective relationships and ways of working with relevant media organisations in the local 
community, regionally and nationally. 
 
27. To develop a communications and media strategy between the PCC and the 
Constabulary to ensure key statements to the community are appropriate, reflecting the 
differing roles and responsibilities of the PCC and Chief Constable. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 10



Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

 

www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk 

 

Scrutiny, evaluation and performance 
 
28. To ensure effective accountability and performance monitoring arrangements are in 
place to support the PCC in scrutinising existing and potentially new areas of 
responsibility including: 
 
- the Chief Constable and the Constabulary, 
- the Police and Crime Commissioner’s office, 
- commissioned services and grant aided schemes / projects, 
- service delivery and partnership arrangements. 
 
 
29. To provide professional advice and evidence based information on emerging issues 
and new government proposals to enable the PCC to consider the future implications to 
the strategic and financial performance of the Constabulary and related partnerships. 
 
30. To develop constructive relationships with the Joint Independent Audit Committee and 
with the Police and Crime Panel and service their requirements to enable them to properly 
discharge their statutory responsibilities. 
 
 
31. To provide advice and support to the PCC and the Chief Constable in the 
appointment of the Chair and Vice Chair of the Joint Independent Audit Committee. 
 
32. To ensure that the PCC performs their duties and responsibilities relating to equality 
and diversity as set out in the legislation and directives and to promote the commitment 
to equality and diversity in all that the organisation does. 
 
33. Ensure the effective and efficient operation of both the internal and external audit 
functions and any other aspects of internal control or external inspection. 
 
 
34. To develop constructive relationships and maintain effective working arrangements 
with various complaint bodies such as the Independent Office of Police Conduct (IOPC)) 
and Police and Crime Panel. To ensure effective and efficient management of complaints 
of the conduct of the Chief Constable and the PCC. 
 
35. To ensure that complaint reviews are effectively managed in line with current 
legislation. 
 
 
Key working relationships 
 

 PCC and Deputy PCC 

 Chief Constable 

 Chief Officers and senior officers / managers of the Gloucestershire Constabulary 

 Local partnerships, stakeholders and VCS 

Page 11



Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

 

www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk 

 

 External bodies such as the Association of Police and Crime Commissioners, APACE, 

Home Office, HMIC, Audit Commission, local authorities, Ministry of Justice, and other 
offices of Police and Crime Commissioners, 

 Senior officers and members of regional partnerships 

 Chief Financial and HR Officers to ensure management matters are reported in 

accordance with Standing Orders and Regulations and in line with the strategic direction 
of the Office 

 Police and Crime Panel 

 Joint Audit Committee 

 
Nature and scope of the role 
 
- Post holder is responsible to the PCC for the satisfactory performance of all aspects of 

the post. 
 
- Post holder is responsible for the development and maintenance of effective working 

relationships with the Chief Constable, partners and external bodies. 
 
- Post holder’s freedom to act is prescribed by the appropriate Statutes and regulations 

by which the PCC is bound. 
 
- Post holder provides support and advice to the PCC and will be expected to assist in 

the resolution of complex issues and problems. 
 
- Post holder will be expected to make a significant contribution to challenging 

developments in policing and blue light services governance. 
 
- Post holder is responsible for the effective performance management of the staff within 

the organisation. 
 
- Post holder will undertake any other responsibilities and duties as appropriate to the 

nature of the role. 
 
Job dimensions 
 
The post holder is responsible to the PCC for: 
 

- performance management of the OPCC staff  
 

- oversight of strategic and financial performance of the Constabulary (current 
budget of c.£140m) 

 
- efficient discharge of the PCC budget 

 
- oversight of capital programmes  

 
Decision making functions 
 

Page 12



Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

 

www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk 

 

The post holder will work within a broad framework of duties in consultation with the 
PCC. 
 
The post holder will be required to demonstrate strategic leadership, initiative and 
discretion and will be expected to make a variety of day to day decisions required of the 
role. 
 
Person Specification 
 
1. Extensive track record of consistent achievement at senior management level 
within a complex organisation. 
 
2. Proven track record of corporate management and participation in the formulation of 
corporate objectives, policies and strategies within a complex multi-disciplined 
organisation. 
 
3. Demonstrable and effective strategic planning expertise. 
 
4. Experience of effective working within the democratic process and evidence of a clear 
understanding of the legal, financial and political workings of local government and the 
current social policy issues to be faced in a multicultural, rural and urban environment. 
 
5. Successful track record of building effective and productive working relationships with 
elected members, a variety of communities, government bodies, partner organisations, 
private sector providers, public agencies, statutory authorities and other stakeholders. 
 
6. Proven track record in the promotion and maintenance of the corporate reputation of a 
public organisation (or equivalent multi-disciplined organisation). 
 
7. A record of success in people and resource management. 
 
8. Analytical thinking and problem solving skills. Able to analyse and present complex 
issues to individuals and groups; internally and externally. 
 
9. Successful track record of establishing effective performance measures evaluating 
service quality and delivering significant improvements in performance. 
 
10. Demonstrable experience of effective change management on a large and complex 
scale. 
 
11. Clear understanding and track record of promoting diversity in both employment and 
service delivery. 
  

 

 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 15



is a commitment to strong governance and accountability.  This means, if necessary, making difficult 
decisions in the interest of good, efficient and effective public services.   
 
2. Proven track record of corporate management and participation in the formulation of corporate objectives, 

policies and strategies within a complex multi-disciplined organisation. 
3. Demonstrable and effective strategic planning expertise. 
 

Following the PCC election in 2021, I have had the responsibility of developing the new Police and 
Crime Prevention Plan for Gloucestershire.  The plan was the culmination of months of work, which 
had at its foundation the PCC’s political commitments made to the electorate during his campaign.  
The plan was very much an evolution of ideas as the Commissioner settled into his new role, as new 
priorities were developed by national government (such as with the Beating Crime Plan) and the 
views of the public, harnessed via public consultation and stakeholder engagement.   
 

In writing the plan, I was able to draw on previous experience of strategy formulation including 
multiple multi-agency Community Safety Partnership strategies which themselves were based on 
evidence of need, analysis of data from a range of partnership organisations and public consultation.  
During my time at Tameside MBC, I also wrote an alcohol harm reduction strategy that was 
recognised as best practice by the Department of Health National Support Team and a reducing 
reoffending strategy which was adopted as best practice in the North West region.  Both of these 
strategies were structured around the already established local multi-agency Community Strategy.  
By demonstrating how alcohol harm reduction and reducing reoffending contributed to the priorities 
set out in the Community Strategy, I was able to quickly gain support from the relevant statutory and 
non-statutory agencies for these two key documents and associated activity. 
 

4. Experience of effective working within the democratic process and evidence of a clear understanding of the 
legal, financial and political workings of local government and the current social policy issues to be faced in 
a multicultural, rural and urban environment. 

 

Having spent many years working within local government, and more recently in the OPCC, I have 
extensive experience of working within in a political environment.  This local authority experience, in 
particular, has supported the lead role I have with the Gloucestershire Police and Crime Panel.  For 
several years, I have been the OPCC link officer for Gloucestershire County Council Democratic 
Services, writing and presenting numerous reports for the panel and ensuring the OPCC meets any 
statutory requirements, such as the presentation of annual budget proposals and the recruitment of 
the current Chief Constable (which I also led on behalf of the OPCC). 
 

My career has involved working for densely populated communities in urban areas, in some of the 
most deprived areas nationally with the highest crime rates, for communities in some of the most 
affluent parts of the country and for areas where rural isolation brings many, often unseen, 
vulnerabilities.  I consider myself to be exceptionally lucky to be able to say that.  I believe that above 
all else, as a public servant, it is vital that we understand what is important to the communities we 
serve and work with them to improve quality of life, no matter where a person lives or their personal 
circumstances.   
 

It is my role to support those that are elected to represent the local community.  As such I have been 
privileged to lead the PCC election activity for the OPCC for the past two elections.  This has involved 
acting as a single point of contact for all candidates on behalf of the OPCC and Constabulary, the 
provision of information in a fair and transparent manner, providing information for residents about 
the PCC election, liaising with the Police Area Returning Officer on behalf of the OPCC and 
Constabulary and developing an induction for the newly elected PCC.   
 

5. Successful track record of building effective and productive working relationships with elected members, a 
variety of communities, government bodies, partner organisations, private sector providers, public agencies, 
statutory authorities and other stakeholders. 

 

During my career I have been fortunate to work with many people from a range of backgrounds and 
organisations.  I am experienced in, and committed to, working with others, including elected 
members, to achieve collective goals and better outcomes for local people. 
 

Examples of working with others includes the development of what has become the Coalition for the 
Wellbeing of Children and Young People (formerly Child Friendly Gloucestershire).  Although it has 

Page 16



taken some time to evolve, I have been involved from the start. . The work involved researching best 
practice, speaking to local experts, developing a proposal and taking this to strategic county 
stakeholders, including local councils and third sector organisations, groups of young people and 
the Bishop of Gloucester, for their buy-in and commitment.    
 

Internally, where my focus had to be more on the Constabulary, I was responsible for the OPCC 
response to the Policing and Crime Act 2017, specifically with regards to the changes to complaints 
handling and the role of the PCC in this.  During this period, I worked closely with the Constabulary’s 
Professional Standards Department (PSD), liaised with, what was, the Independent Police 
Complaints Commission and the Home Office as well as regional partners.  I researched practices 
and processes for managing complaints within the Constabulary, collected relevant data and 
identified good, and less good, practices across numerous departments within the Constabulary.  
Whilst carrying out this work, I consulted regularly the PCC and Chief Officer Group. 
 

The final decision of the then PCC was to adopt the mandatory complaints model for the OPCC, 
which led to the development of the Independent Review Officer role.  Underpinning the success of 
the new way of working, which has recently been commended by the Independent Office for Police 
Conduct, are the relationships I have developed throughout the process outlined above.  The work I 
led has resulted in solid professional working relationships between the OPCC, PSD, Legal Team 
(civil litigation) and the Constabulary Feedback and Customer Care Team.  This has undoubtedly 
improved our service to the public, where individuals, not processes, drive activity and where 
organisational learning is the overarching aim. 
 

6. Proven track record in the promotion and maintenance of the corporate reputation of a public organisation 
(or equivalent multi-disciplined organisation). 

 

During the PCC elections, it has been, as I have stated, my responsibility to lead on the OPCC 
requirements.  Included in this were briefings, both written and in person, to both OPCC and 
Constabulary personnel about political impartiality, the need to adhere to pre-election (purdah) 
guidance and to ensure all candidates were treated equally and fairly, irrespective of whether they 
were the incumbent or not.  This included, where necessary, challenging behaviours that 
contradicted the clearly defined, and articulated, expectations of staff and requests of candidates 
that could have led to criticism of the OPCC.  
 

Supporting me in this function is a strong commitment to the College of Policing Code of Ethics that 
all OPCC and Constabulary staff and officers adhere to.  On more than one occasion I have referred 
to the Code of Ethics to help me shape a course of action regarding behaviour that I felt went against 
what would be expected of a person in a public office. 
 

8. Analytical thinking and problem solving skills. Able to analyse and present complex issues to individuals and 
groups; internally and externally. 

9. Successful track record of establishing effective performance measures evaluating service quality and 
delivering significant improvements in performance. 

 

One of my key responsibilities at Tameside MBC was to negotiate and agree targets, collect data 
and maintain databases. To do this I was tasked with collecting and reporting data from a range of 
sources. Updates would be reported to several bodies, including elected members, executive level 
officers, partners and members of the public via, for example, third sector assisted groups. I would 
also be expected to report performance in detail as part of any internal or external inspection regime.  
 

During my time in the OPCC, I have used the skills I have acquired to develop mechanisms for 
monitoring activity within the office such as with complaints. I also regularly monitor Home Office 
statistics via iQuanta (Home Office performance tool) as a means of contextualising, through peer 
analysis, Constabulary data provided via SAS Dashboards. I believe that the ability to report 
performance has meant that I have developed the capacity to question the performance reporting of 
other agencies, including the Constabulary. These skills mean I am able to support the PCC in both 
community feedback functions as well as in holding the Chief Constable to account.  These skills 
have also been utilised in the support of the development of the Chief Constable’s performance 
scorecard of which I was a key consultation stakeholder.  
 
 
 

Page 17



7. A record of success in people and resource management. 
10. Demonstrable experience of effective change management on a large and complex scale. 
11. Clear understanding and track record of promoting diversity in both employment and service delivery. 
 

I feel incredibly honoured to be part of the OPCC – to have been recruited and promoted to a senior 
strategic leadership role.  The team is diverse in many ways, not least in experience and expertise 
although, as always, there is more to be done with regards to ethnicity and gender balance across 
all levels within the organisation. 
 

Since becoming Deputy Chief Executive I have supported the Chief Executive in developing the 
OPCC into the team it is today.  In 2019, and very early on in our new roles, we carried out a whole-
scale review of the team, which was led by the findings of staff consultation.  This led to the 
development of new roles within the team.  Perhaps the most simple but effective intervention during 
the OPCC review was to physically move where staff sit.  This has undoubtedly led to improved 
effectiveness in joint working and arguably increased value for money.  This is evidenced by recent 
successes in national bidding processes led by myself alongside the Head of Commissioning which 
has attracted over £3m into the county in the last year alone.    
 

I have worked with the diverse needs of all staff to implement a flexible working policy, this has led 
to highly effective working practices and high levels of morale. Additionally I support staff to 
undertake regular continuous professional development, training and volunteering for other 
organisations which increases the skill set of the individual and the wider office. I believe this way of 
working to support staff means that the OPCC enjoys a high retention and low sick rate amongst 
staff. 
 

Having led a team at the time of the 2010 Comprehensive Spending Review, I also have first-hand 
experience of the management of change in challenging circumstances.  During this time, I was 
tasked with developing a service redesign proposal to meet efficiency saving requirements. This 
involved consultation with staff and unions, a whole scale review of staff functions, decommissioning 
of posts, placing staff on the at-risk register and managing voluntary redundancy requests.   
 

Improving diversity is, and must be, an ongoing priority.  As stated, there is more to be achieved in 
the OPCC with regards to staff but also with our volunteers.  In 2016, I jointly took over the 
management of the Independent Custody Visitors (ICV) scheme for the OPCC.  At that time the 
scheme was overwhelmingly supported by white volunteers of retirement age.  Through an 
approach, jointly initiated by myself in 2016 and involving proactive engagement with the University 
of Gloucestershire and more ethnically diverse communities, our ICV scheme has now developed 
with representation from a range of ages, ethnicities and disabilities.   This improves our scrutiny 
functions and overall legitimacy.   
 

With regards to resource management, in Tameside MBC, I was responsible for the administration 
of a partnership activity fund of around £100,000 p/a. This was open for bids to address local, 
identified need and/or performance concerns through an evaluation process I developed.   During 
my time at Tameside, and at Gloucestershire OPCC, my role as deputy has included responsibilities 
for supporting wider resource related issues, such as team budgetary planning and in support of the 
PCC with regards to precept and medium term financial planning proposals to the Police and Crime 
Panel.   
 

I hope that I have clearly demonstrated how my experience meets the requirements outlined in the 
role profile. However, my experience goes beyond the examples outlined above and I would relish 
the opportunity to discuss them further with you at an interview. 
 
 
Kind regards 
 

 
Ruth Greenwood 
 

Page 18



Page 19



Page 2  

 
 
 Direct line management of the Policy and Research Team and the Contact and Complaints Team 

in the OPCC 
 Managing the budget consultation and advising the PCC of public opinion with regards to budgetary 

plans 
 Providing effective, creative problem solving in a fast-paced, high pressure political environment 
 Ensuring and providing quality, trusted advice to the PCC and Deputy PCC in all areas of business 
 

Key Achievements 
 Since May 2021, jointly secured over £3million in Safer Streets Funding to tackle anti-social 

behaviour, neighbourhood crimes and violence against women and girls - all priority areas for the 
Commissioner in his Police and Crime Prevention Plan. 

 Led on all election related matters linked to the 2021 PCC election. This included liaising with 
candidates in a fair and transparent manner, providing information as required on behalf of the 
OPCC and Constabulary. This also involved managing the transition and induction of the new PCC 
following the election in May 2021 and ensuring the roles and responsibilities of the role are 
understood and delivered. 

 Reinstated the Emergency Services Collaboration Governance Board to facilitate the strategic 
oversight of better ways of working with our blue light partners. 

 Developed the new Police and Crime Prevention Plan which recognised the PCC's political 
commitments, ensuring the right advice regarding policy and consulting with stakeholders including 
the public. 

 

Aug 2015 - Jul 2019 Gloucestershire OPCC  
Policy Officer 

 

Outline 
A new role in the OPCC providing policy support to the PCC. This included overseeing the OPCC 
response to the Policing and Crime Act 2017, which included the mandatory adoption of elements of 
the complaints process and an exploration into a potential change in Fire and Rescue Service 
governance.  This latter work led to the submission of a business case to the Home Office in 2019. The 
role also included the development of a community-based Commissioner's Forum to advise the PCC 
in his decisions and functions and the development of the Child Friendly approach in Gloucestershire, 
the management of the 2016 PCC election and recruitment of the current Chief Constable.  
 

Jan 2004 - Aug 2012 Tameside Metropolitan Borough Council 
Principal Community Safety Policy Advisor then Community 
Safety Service Unit Manager 

  

Outline 
Deputy role to the Head of Community Safety Services which included the development and oversight 
of a borough-wide CCTV monitoring contract, management of 60+ community wardens, Integrated 
Offender Management, Drug and Alcohol Action Team (DAAT) and direct line management of a multi-
agency Anti-Social Behaviour Team and Community Safety team. The role also included strategic 
development and oversight of the Community Safety Partnership (CSP) which included the 
amalgamation of the Local Criminal Justice Board and DAAT with the CSP, responsibility for 
performance management, all CSP related public consultation and commissioning of analytical 
products. Lead for strategy development including an alcohol harm reduction strategy that was 
recognised as best practice by Dept. of Health National Support Team and a reducing reoffending 
strategy which was adopted as best practice in the North West region. 
 

Dec 2002 - Apr 2004 New East Manchester (part of Manchester City Council) 
Community Safety Coordinator 

   

Outline 
Local point of contact for the community and partners for all community safety related activity in an area 
in receipt of significant national and European regeneration funds.  The post involved community and 
key stakeholder liaison, project delivery including capital funded schemes such as ‘Alleygating’ and 
coordination of case intervention groups to discuss early intervention and enforcement relating to anti-
social behaviour. 
 
 
 
 

Page 20



Page 3  

 
 

Sep 2000 - Dec 2002 Tameside Metropolitan Borough Council 
Community Safety Graduate Trainee then Community Safety 
Officer 

  

Outline 
Graduate trainee position in a Local Authority in the Community Safety Team. Following a successful 
integration into the team which involved the writing of the local crime and disorder audit to inform the 
CSP plan, the post became a permanent Community Safety Officer role. 
 

 
Education 
  
 BA (Hons) Politics with History: 2.1 | Manchester Metropolitan University  
 A-Levels: 1xC 2xD 1xE | Beaufort Community School, Holmleigh Park, Tuffley Gloucester 
 GCSEs: 2xA 4xB 3xC | Severn Vale School, School Lane, Quedgeley, Gloucester  
 
 

Continuous professional development 
  
 Gloucestershire Constabulary (GC): 

Supportive Leadership 
 NCALT: Managing Information (modules 1 & 

2) 
 NCALT: Data Protection (foundation level) 
 GC Corporate Induction (1&2) 
 GC / Glos. OPCC: Recruitment Interview 

Techniques 
 GC / Glos. OPCC: Presenting with 

Confidence 
 Tameside Metropolitan Borough Council 

(TMBC): Continual Improvement 
 Greater Manchester Police: Introduction to 

iBase 

 MapInfo Foundation Course 
 Manchester City Council: Project 

Fundamentals 
 Government Office North West: Introduction 

to the Data Protection Act and the Human 
Rights Act 

 TMBC: Emergency Planning (Managers) 
 TMBC: FOI Act Fundamentals 
 TMBC: Safeguarding adults (Managers) 
 Gloucestershire Cricket Board: Safeguarding 

Children 
 Gloucestershire Cricket Board: Safe Hands 
 

 
Additional  
 
Hobbies & Interests  
  Running, walking, body boarding 
  
Awards 
  OPCC staff member of the year 2021 
 
 

References 
 
Richard Bradley (current line manager) 
 

Chief Executive, Office of the Police & Crime 
Commissioner for Gloucestershire  
 

  
 Richard.Bradley@gloucestershire.police.uk  
 No.1 Waterwells, Waterwells Drive,    
     Quedgeley, Gloucester, GL2 2AN 
 

Lisa Lees (line manager at Tameside MBC) 
 

Strategic Planning Manager, Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority 
 

  
 Lisa.Lees@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk  
 GMCA, Tootal Buildings, 56 Oxford Street,  
     Manchester M1 6EU 

 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Chief Executive Hearing
	Recruitment of OPCC Chief Executive Confirmation 260822. CN final
	Application letter 4346 Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer - Ruth Greenwood.docx_PANEL
	Application CV 4346 Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer - Ruth Greenwood.docx_PANEL




